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FILED IN OPEN COURT

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT Wi/22
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA CLERK. U S. DISTRCT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
JACKSONVILLE DIVISION JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. CASE NO. 3:22-cr-69-TIC-LLL

ALEJANDRO CARMONA-FONSECA
a’/k/a “Alexandro”

PLEA AGREEMENT
Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c), the United States of America, by Roger B.
Handberg, United States Attorney for the Middle District of Florida, and the
defendant, ALEJANDRO CARMONA a/k/a “Alexandro” and the attorney for the
defendant, John Rockwell, Esquire, mutually agree as follows:

A. Particularjzed Terms

1. Count(s) Pleading To

The defendant shall enter a plea of guilty to Count Four of the
Indictment. Count Four charges the defendant with attempted online enticement of a
minor to engage in illegal sexual activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2422(b).
2. Minimum and Maximum Penalties
Count Four is punishable by a mandatory minimum term of
imprisonment of not less than 10 years and up to life, a fine of $250,000, or both a term
of supervised release of any term of years not less than 5 up to life, and a special

assessment of $100, said special assessment to be due on the date of sentencing.
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Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3583(k), if the defendant is required
to register under the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act and commits any
criminal felony offense under Title 18, United States Code, Chapter 109A, 110 or 117,
or Sections 1201 or 1591, the Court shall revoke the term of supervised release and
require the defendant to serve a term of imprisonment of not less than 5 years and up
to life. Any other violation of the terms and conditions of supervised release is
punishable by a term of imprisonment of up to 5 years.

With respect to this offense and pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 2259, 3663A and/or 3664, the Court shall order the defendant to make
restitution to any victim of the offense(s), and with respect to other offenses, the Court
may order the defendant to make restitution to any victim of the offense(s), or to the
community, as set forth below.

Additionally, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3014, the Court shall impose a
$5,000 special assessment on any non-indigent defendant convicted of an offense in
violation of certain enumerated statutes involving: (1) peonage, slavery, and trafficking
in persons; (2) sexual abuse; (3) sexual exploitation and other abuse of children; (4)
transportation for illegal sexual activity; or (5) human smuggling in violation of the
Immigration and Nationality Act (exempting any individual involved in the smuggling

of an alien who is the alien’s spouse, parent, son or daughter).
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3.

Elements of the Offense(s)

The defendant acknowledges understanding the nature and elements of

the offense(s) with which defendant has been charged and to which defendant is

pleading guilty. The elements of Count Four are:

First:

Second:

Third:

That the defendant knowingly and willfully attempted to
persuade, induce, entice or coerce an individual to engage
in sexual activity, as charged,

That the defendant used a facility of interstate
commerce, that is, a computer via the internet, to do so;

That when the defendant did these acts, the defendant
believed that such individual was less than eighteen (18)
years old;

That if the sexual activity had occurred, the defendant
could have been charged with a criminal offense under the
laws of the United States, that is, the production of child
pornography, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2251(a); and

That the defendant engaged in conduct that constituted
substantial steps toward the commission of the crime and
that strongly corroborates the defendant’s criminal intent.

Counts Dismissed

At the time of sentencing, the remaining counts against the defendant,

charged by Indictment, Counts One, Two and Three, will be dismissed as to. this

defendant pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1)(A).

5.

No Further Charges

If the Court accepts this plea agreement, the United States Attorney’s

Office for the Middle District of Florida agrees not to charge defendant with
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committing any other federal criminal offenses known to the United States Attorney’s
Office at the time of the execution of this agreement, related to the conduct giving rise
to this plea agreement.

6. Restitution to Any Minor Victims of Offenses
Committed by Defendant, Whether Charged or Uncharged

The defendant agrees to pay restitution to any of his minor victims, for
the entire scope of his criminal conduct, including but not limited to all matters
included as relevant conduct. The defendant acknowledges and agrees that this
criminal conduct (or relevant conduct) includes any minor victim of any child
pornography offenses, charged or uncharged, under Chapter 110, United States Code,
and any minor victim of any violation of federal and/or state law committed by the
defendant, including any contact sexual offense. Further, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 3664(d)(5), the defendant agrees not to oppose bifurcation of the sentencing hearing
if the victims’ losses are not ascertainable prior to sentencing.

7. Sex Offender Registration and Notification

The defendant has been advised and understands, that under the Sex
Offender Registration and Notification Act, a federal law, the defendant must register
and keep the registration current in each of the following jurisdictions: the location of
the defendant’s residence, the location of the defendant’s employment; and, if the
defendant is a student, the location of the defendant’s school. Registration will require
that the defendant provide information that includes name, residence address, and the

names and addresses of any places at which the defendant is or will be an employee or
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a student. The defendant understands that he must update his registrations not later
than three business days after any change of name, residence, employment, or student
status. The defendant understands that failure to comply with these obligations
subjects the defendant to prosecution for failure to register under federal law, 18 U.S.C.
§ 2250, which is punishable by a fine or imprisonment, or both.

8. Acceptance of Responsibility - Three Levels

At the time of sentencing, and in the event that no adverse information
is received suggesting such a recommendation to be unwarranted, the United States
will recommend to the Court that the defendant receive a two-level downward
adjustment for acceptance of responsibility, pursuant to USSG §3El.1(a). The
defendant understands that this recommendation or request is not binding on the
Court, and if not accepted by the Court, the defendant will not be allowed to withdraw
from the plea.

Further, at the time of sentencing, if the defendant's offense level prior to
operation of subsection (a) is level 16 or greater, and if the defendant complies with
the provisions of USSG §3E1.1(b) and all terms of this Plea Agreement, including but
not limited to, the timely submission of the financial affidavit referenced in Paragraph
B.5., the United States agrees to file a motion pursuant to USSG §3E1.1(b) for a
downward adjustment of one additional level. The defendant understands that the
determination as to whether the defendant has qualified for a downward adjustment
of a third level for acceptance of responsibility rests solely with the United States

Attorney for the Middle District of Florida, and the defendant agrees that the
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defendant cannot and will not challenge that determination, whether by appeal,
collateral attack, or otherwise.

9. Forfeiture of Assets

The defendant agrees to forfeit to the United States immediately and
voluntarily any and all assets and property, or portions thereof, subject to forfeiture,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2253, whether in the possession or control of the United States,
the defendant or defendant's nominees.

The defendant agrees and consents to the forfeiture of these assets
pursuant to any federal criminal, civil judicial or administrative forfeiture action. The
defendant also agrees to waive all constitutional, statutory and procedural challenges
(including direct appeal, habeas corpus, or any other means) to any forfeiture carried
out in accordance with this Plea Agreement on any grounds, including that the
forfeiture described herein constitutes an excessive fine, was not properly noticed in
the charging instrument, addressed by the Court at the time of the guilty plea,
announced at sentencing, or incorporated into the judgment.

If the United States seeks the forfeiture of specific assets pursuant to Rule
32.2(b)(4), the defendant agrees that the preliminary order of forfeiture will satisfy the
notice requirement and will be final as to the defendant at the time it is entered. In the
event the forfeiture is omitted from the judgment, the defendant agrees that the
forfeiture order may be incorporated into the written judgment at any time pursuant

to Rule 36.
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The defendant agrees to take all steps necessary to identify and locate all
property subject to forfeiture and to transfer custody of such property to the United
States before the defendant’s sentencing. To that end, the defendant agrees to make a
full and complete disclosure of all assets over which defendant exercises control
directly or indirectly, including all assets held by nominees, to execute any documents
requested by the United States to obtain from any other parties by lawful means any
records of assets owned by the defendant, and to consent to the release of the
defendant’s tax returns for the previous five years. The defendant further agrees to be
interviewed by the government, prior to and after sentencing, regarding such assets
and their connection to criminal conduct. The defendant further agrees to be
polygraphed on the issue of assets, if it is deemed necessary by the United States. The
defendant agrees that Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11 and USSG § 1B1.8 will
not protect from forfeiture assets disclosed by the defendant as part of the defendant’s
cooperation.

The defendant agrees to take all steps necessary to assist the government
in obtaining clear title to the forfeitable assets before the defendant’s sentencing. In
addition to providing full and complete information about forfeitable assets, these steps
include, but are not limited to, the surrender of title, the signing of a consent decree of
forfeiture, and signing of any other documents necessary to effectuate such transfers.

Forfeiture of the defendant's assets shall not be treated as satisfaction of
any fine, restitution, cost of imprisonment, or any other penalty the Court may impose

upon the defendant in addition to forfeiture.
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The defendant agrees that, in the event the Court determines that the
defendant has breached this section of the Plea Agreement, the defendant may be
found ineligible for a reduction in the Guidelines calculation for acceptance of
responsibility and substantial assistance, and may be eligible for an obstruction of
justice enhancement.

The defendant agrees that the forfeiture provisions of this plea
agreement are intended to, and will, survive the defendant, notwithstanding the
abatement of any underlying criminal conviction after the execution of this
agreement. The forfeitability of any particular property pursuant to this agreement
shall be determined as if the defendant had survived, and that determination shall be
binding upon defendant’s heirs, successors and assigns until the agreed forfeiture,
including any agreed forfeiture amount, is collected in full.

B.  Standard Terms and Conditions
1.  Restitution, Special Assessment and Fine

The defendant understands and agrees that the Court, in addition to or
in lieu of any other penalty, shall order the defendant to make restitution to any victim
of the offense(s), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663 A, for all offenses described in 18 U.S.C.
§ 3663A(c)(1); and the Court may order the defendant to make restitution to any victim
of the offense(s), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663, including restitution as to all counts
charged, whether or not the defendant enters a plea of guilty to such counts, and
whether or not such counts are dismissed pursuant to this agreement. The defendant

further understands that compliance with any restitution payment plan imposed by the
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Court in no way precludes the United States from simultaneously pursuing other
statutory remedies for collecting restitution (18 U.S.C. § 3003(b)(2)), including, but
not limited to, garnishment and execution, pursuant to the Mandatory Victims
Restitution Act, in order to ensure that the defendant’s restitution obligation is
satisfied.

On each count to which a plea of guilty is entered, the Court shall impose
a special assessment pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3013. The special assessment is due on
the date of sentencing. The defendant understands that this agreement imposes no
limitation as to fine.

2. Supervised Release

The defendant understands that the offense(s) to which the defendant is
pleading provide(s) for imposition of a term of supervised release upon release from
imprisonment, and that, if the defendant should violate the conditions of release, the
defendant would be subject to a further term of imprisonment.

3. Immigration Consequences of Pleading Guilty

The defendant has been advised and understands that, upon conviction,
a defendant who is not a United States citizen may be removed from the United States,
denied citizenship, and denied admission to the United States in the future.

4, Sentencing Information

The United States reserves its right and obligation to report to the Court

and the United States Probation Office all information concerning the background,

character, and conduct of the defendant, to provide relevant factual information,
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including the totality of the defendant's criminal activities, if any, not limited to the
count(s) to which defendant pleads, to respond to comments made by the defendant
or defendant's counsel, and to correct any misstatements or inaccuracies. The United
States further reserves its right to make any recommendations it deems appropriate
regarding the disposition of this case, subject to any limitations set forth herein, if any.

5. Financial Disclosures

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3664(d)(3) and Fed. R. Crim. P. 32(d)(2)(A)(i),
the defendant agrees to complete and submit to the United States Attorney's Office
within 30 days of execution of this agreement an affidavit reflecting the defendant's
financial condition. The defendant promises that his financial statement and
disclosures will be complete, accurate and truthful and will include all assets in which
he has any interest or over which the defendant exercises control, directly or indirectly,
including those held by a spouse, dependent, nominee or other third party. The
defendant further agrees to execute any documents requested by the United States
needed to obtain from any third parties any records of assets owned by the defendant,
directly or through a nominee, and, by the execution of this Plea Agreement, consents
to the release of the defendant's tax returns for the previous five years. The defendant
similarly agrees and authorizes the United States Attorney's Office to provide to, and
obtain from, the United States Probation Office, the financial affidavit, any of the
defendant's federal, state, and local tax returns, bank records and any other financial
information concerning the defendant, for the purpose of making any

recommendations to the Court and for collecting any assessments, fines, restitution,
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or forfeiture ordered by the Court. The defendant expressly authorizes the United
States Attorney's Office to obtain current credit reports in order to evaluate the
defendant's ability to satisfy any financial obligation imposed by the Court.
6. Sentencing Recommendations

It is understood by the parties that the Court is neither a party to nor
bound by this agreement. The Court may accept or reject the agreement, or defer a
decision until it has had an opportunity to consider the presentence report prepared by
the United States Probation Office. The defendant understands and acknowledges
that, although the parties are permitted to make recommendations and present
arguments to the Court, the sentence will be determined solely by the Court, with the
assistance of the United States Probation Office. Defendant further understands and
acknowledges that any discussions between defendant or defendant's attorney and the
attorney or other agents for the government regarding any recommendations by the
government are not binding on the Court and that, should any recommendations be
rejected, defendant will not be permitted to withdraw defendant's plea pursuant to this
plea agreement. The government expressly reserves the right to support and defend
any decision that the Court may make with regard to the defendant's sentence, whether
or not such decision is consistent with the government's recommendations contained

herein.

7. Defendant’s Waiver of Right to Appeal the Sentence

The defendant agrees that this Court has jurisdiction and authority to

impose any sentence up to the statutory maximum and expressly waives the right to

Defendant’s Initials & 11



Case 3:22-cr-00069-TJC-LLL Document 30 Filed 12/14/22 Page 12 of 33 PagelD 71

appeal defendant's sentence on any ground, including the ground that the Court erred
~ in determining the applicable guidelines range pursuant to the United States
Sentencing Guidelines, except (a) the ground that the sentence exceeds the defendant's
applicable guidelines range as determined by the Court pursuant to the United States
Sentencing Guidelines; (b) the ground that the sentence exceeds the statutory
maximum penalty; or (c) the ground that the sentence violates the Eighth Amendment
to the Constitution; provided, however, that if the government exercises its right to
appeal the sentence imposed, as authorized by 18 U.S.C. § 3742(b), then the defendant
is released from his waiver and may appeal the sentence as authorized by 18 U.S.C. §
3742(a).
8. Middle District of Florida Agreement
It is further understood that this agreement is limited to the Office of the
United States Attorney for the Middle District of Florida and cannot bind other
federal, state, or local prosecuting authorities, although this office will bring
defendant's cooperation, if any, to the attention of other prosecuting officers or others,
if requested.
9. Filing of Agreement
This agreement shall be presented to the Court, in open court or in
camera, in whole or in part, upon a showing of good cause, and filed in this cause, at

the time of defendant's entry of a plea of guilty pursuant hereto.

Defendant’s Initials @" 12



Case 3:22-cr-00069-TJC-LLL Document 30 Filed 12/14/22 Page 13 of 33 PagelD 72

10.  Voluntariness

The defendant acknowledges that defendant is entering into this
agreement and is pleading guilty freely and voluntarily without reliance upon any
discussions between the attorney for the government and the defendant and
defendant's attorney and without promise of benefit of any kind (other than the
concessions contained herein), and without threats, force, intimidation, or coercion of
any kind. The defendant further acknowledges defendant's understanding of the
nature of the offense or offenses to which defendant is pleading guilty and the elements
thereof, including the penalties provided by law, and defendant's complete satisfaction
with the representation and advice received from defendant's undersigned counsel (if
any). The defendant also understands that defendant has the right to plead not guilty
or to persist in that plea if it has already been made, and that defendant has the right
to be tried by a jury with the assistance of counsel, the right to confront and cross-
examine the witnesses against defendant, the right against compulsory self-
incrimination, and the right to compulsory process for the attendance of witnesses to
testify in defendant’s defense; but, by pleading guilty, defendant waives or gives up
those rights and there will be no trial. The defendant further understands that if
defendant pleads guilty, the Court may ask defendant questions about the offense or
offenses to which defendant pleaded, and if defendant answers those questions under
oath, on the record, and in the presence of counsel (if any), defendant's answers may
later be used against defendant in a prosecution for perjury or false statement. The

defendant also understands that defendant will be adjudicated guilty of the offenses to
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which defendant has pleaded and, if any of such offenses are felonies, may thereby be
deprived of certain rights, such as the right to vote, to hold public office, to serve on a
jury, or to have possession of firearms.
11.  Factual Basis
Defendant is pleading guilty because defendant is in fact guilty. The
defendant certifies that defendant does hereby admit that the facts set forth in the
attached "Factual Basis," which is incorporated herein by reference, are true, and were
this case to go to trial, the United States would be able to prove those specific facts and
others beyond a reasonable doubt.
12.  Entire Agreement
This plea agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the
government and the defendant with respect to the aforementioned guilty plea and no
other promises, agreements, or representations exist or have been made to the

defendant or defendant's attorney with regard to such guilty plea.
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13. Ceriification

The defendant and defendant's counsel certify that this plea agreement

has been read in its entirety by (or has been read to) the defendant and that defendant

fully understands its terms.

DATED this e day of D@mlw/ , 2022.

ROGER B. HANDBERG

ALE??J@MARMONA-FONSECA
eferidant
TR ROCKWELL

Attorney for Defendant Assistant United States Attorney
Deputy Chief, Jacksonville Division
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
JACKSONVILLE DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. CASE NO. 3:22-cr-69-TJC-LLL

ALEJANDRO CARMONA-FONSECA
a’k/a “Alexandro”

PERSONALIZATION OF ELEMENTS

1. From on or about March 3, 2022, through on or about March 4,
2022, in the Middle District of Florida, did you knowingly and willfully attempt
to persuade, induce, entice and coerce an individual to engage in sexual activity,
that is, production of child pornography, as charged?

2. Did you use facilities of interstate commerce, that is, a cellular
telephone, to do so?

3. At the time that you performed these acts, did you believe that
such individual was less than eighteen (18) years of age, and further that this
individual was a 17-year-old male (the “child”)? |

4, Do you admit and acknowledge that if this sexual activity had
occurred that you could have been charged with a criminal offense under the
laws of the United States, that is, production of child exploitation material in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2251(a)?
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5. Do you admit that you engaged in conduct which constituted
substantial steps toward the commission of the crime and which strongly -
corroborate your criminal intent, that is, among other things, you detailed the

type of images you wanted the “child” to produce, which were sexual in nature?
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
JACKSONVILLE DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. CASE NO. 3:22-cr-69-TJC-LLL

ALEJANDRO CARMONA-FONSECA
a’/k/a “Alexandro”

FACTUAL BASIS

On February 22, 2022, the Clay County Sheriff's Office (CCSO) received a
report from an employee at My Time Fitness about a gym member who received a
nude photo from another member. The gym member who received the picture was
later identified as MV1, who was 17 at the time CCSO made contact. The member
who sent the picture was later identified as the defendant, Alejandro Carmona-
Fonseca, an officer with the Jacksonville Sheriff's Office (JSO). The gym employee
provided contact information for MV1’s parents to CCSO.

On February 25, 2022, MV1 was interviewed. MV1 reported receiving
inappropriate messages from a guy known to him as “Alexandria,” whom he
positively identified as the defendant. MV1 met him about one year ago. The
defendant asked MV1 for his Snapchat and MV1 provided it. MV1 thought he would
receive workout advice, but he said the defendant started acting weird and asking MV1

to send him a Snapchat with his shirt off. The defendant sent MV1 a Snapchat with
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his penis exposed. The defendant also sent MV1 a picture in his police uniform and
wrote “you can call me your police daddy.”

The defendant gave MV1 advice on working out. On MVT1’s birthday, the
defendant sent a message saying, “Happy Birthday” “what is your Venmo I'll send
you money” or “dick pics” and MV1 told the defendant he did not have to. MV1 said
that all the communication with the defendant was through Snapchat and the
messages would disappear after they were opened.

MV1 said that after the defendant sent the awkward messages, he (MV1)
changed the times he went to the gym to avoid the defendant. The defendant then
sent MV1 messages asking if he quit working out, so MV1 said he had to change his
time because of work. The defendant then replied that MV1 would have to send
pictures with his shirt off. MV1 said he ignored the message. MV1 said he did not ask
the defendant to stop because he thought it would be awkward if he saw him in the
gym. MV1 said he just wanted to avoid him.

MV1 described one of the Snapchat pictures sent by the defendant, which was
of the defendant standing in front of a mirror, flipping off the camera and his penis
was hanging out of his shorts. MV1 also described a video sent by the defendant where
the defendant was fully naked with a black ball cap covering his groin area, then the
defendant removed the hat, revealing his penis. MV1 said he responded, “dude WTF”

and the defendant responded, “dude sorry not sorry” with laughing emoji's.
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MV1 said he told the defendant that he was in high school, and the defendant
replied that he had gone to the same high school. MV1 also told the defendant he was
16 years old. MV1 also reported that the defendant sent him several pictures in his
JSO uniform.

MV1 and his mother consented to CCSO assuming MV1’s identity over
Snapchat with the defendant. On March 3, 2022, Homeland Security Investigations
Task Force Officer/CCSO Detective Ellis began communicating with the defendant
using MV1’s Snapchat account. TFO Ellis observed the defendant was friends with
MV1 and confirmed the defendant’s identity based on pictures on his account
compared to his driver’s license. TFO Ellis also observed the defendant’s location
services turned on and was able to observe his location numerous times during the
chats. The defendant’s location showed him next to a JSO substation on numerous
occasions and various places around the Brentwood area of Jacksonville, which is the
area the defendant worked as a patrol officer. The defendant’s location after his shift
showed him in the area of Clay County near his residence and the gym he frequented.
TFO Ellis was able to initiate a conversation by making a Snapchat voice call to the
defendant and quickly hanging up to apologize and pretend the call was an accident.
The defendant then engaged in conversation with “MV1.”

The following messages were exchanged over Snapchat between the defendant,
using the username “Alexandro” and TFO Ellis using the identity of MV1 on March

3,2022:
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UcC:
Alexandro: What was??
ucC: I accidentally called you
It might not went through
I was trying to call my boy Alex wrong one
Alexandro: LOL all good brol!
UcC: How you been
Alexandro: Miss you man!
UucC: Miss you bro
[ just got my phone back been without for a bit
Alexandro: You get in trouble??
uUcC: Kinda lol
School and home
My dad was not happy but it’s all good now
I'll be 18 soon so
Alexandro: Gotta fly right bro!! At last you only lost it for a little bit
UcC: True
Alexandro: When’s your berfday??
uc: Not soon enough man
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Alexandro:

UucC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro;

ucC:

Alexandro:

ucC;

I thought you just turned 17. Lol

Lol I did

But it’s already March

Ok so I'm not going crazy.

I still owe you a berfday gift!

You do
What ya gonna get me

Jk I know you wanted to give me some
Don’t let me hold ya up bro im sure you working
Later

You ain’t holding me up bro. I can multi-task lol

You can
I can barly[sic] do 2 things at once

So what this birth gifi
What do you want bro??

No clue
Gotta think hard

Naked workout vids??? Lol you get those anyway.

Lol lmao

You make me look bad
T ain’t 1acked
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Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UucC:

Alexandro:

ucC

Alexandro:

UC:

uc:
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Yes you are!!

But sure if you say so
I working on it

My eyes don’t lie to me!
You should be sending flex and training vids on the

reg...your fans expect it

You ain’t send me one of those in ages
Thought you didn’t like me anymore

Oh I got youl!

My fans! Hahaha

Rut vou're right...I am at work right now

No fans here bro
Well if I'm lucky

You have a lot of fans! I watch them watch you at the gym!!

Itry
I'll have to work on them vids
Hard flexin

You can start tonight...
Tonight what

Flexin
I’ll see what ¥ ~an Ag T need to finish some homework and

shower soor

Guess you fighting crime later
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Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

uc:

Case 3:22-cr-00069-TJC-LLL Document 30 Filed 12/14/22 Page 24 of 33 PagelD 83

Sarrv huddv  and jfter shower flex vids are the standard

Lmao

Tonight what
Flexin

OhyesIdo

why you stop sending me vids? Figured I made you mad
I been so nuts busy

I just figured you didn’t like them bro. I'm not mad at you
at all...why would I be7?

Never said I didn’t
I donojsic] y glad you ain’t

T ruit all those training vids on my story to motivate you.

it yon ever make me mad ill tell you. I don’t play kid games

bro.

Hell yeah man I appreciate I much respect for you
One day I’ll be jacked like you been working hard lately and
eatn right been making some gains

Get on it bro. It’s definitely easier for you with no wife and
family. You have great genetics bro you'll grow fast AF!

Aight I’'m about to shower gotta get up early
Thanks man

Defendant’s Initials C@ 7



Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:
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Youdo 2

Aight stud. Take my vid then go to sleep. Lol
What ya want in the vid

Just make sure your delete

Tell me and maybe I will since you cool

Video of me in a hoodie and jeans got it

Lol you wear a Hoodie and jeans in the shower??

Full body flex vid. And it snap....it deletes itself... which is
whv Tnee it And go, |

So full nude or underwear
I never sent a pic like tahtlsic]

I mean 1 know what

Send it. I know you send that to all the ladies. Lol
Means never mind 1 feel stupid

Oh 1 got youl!

Tonight what

Flexin

You won’t arrest me”?

Who is going to tell? I'm a vauit

I may put you in handcuffs but that’s just for fun!

Hahaha

Alright so just a nide pic or video or no?
Or
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Lol
1 do no I feel embarrassed
I feel *

Alexandro: Yes and yes...nekkid flex vid
Embarrassed of your hottness[sic]? Ridiculous.
Lol

ucC: Lmao
Yeah right

Alexandro: True brol!

uc: Aight
You sure?
I don’t wanna get either of us in trouble
People be saving stuff
You can say no and bye bye

Alexandro: Absolutely sure. This is and everything stays between us.
Even when I help you bury a body. Lol

uc: You got a iPhone right m
Alexandro: Negative...android for life!
uc: Could FaceTime
Damn
New one?
Alexandro: I do Galaxy phones bro. Just snap it. [t disappears anyway.
UcC: I need a new phone mine is junk
True
That’s right
Alexandro: That ran he vour berfday gift. I'll help you save up to get
one.
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UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

For sure

Alright bro I'm hitting shower and then some
Be safe

Wash that ass! Lol
Qtnn oettino 1n trouble

Lol

T al eend mv vid and go to sleep. You have to be up early

You never send me a vid
Gotta finish this homework

Lol I knew you’d waffle. I've sent you some before and you
squealed about it.

Squealed?

[ ain’t scared

I got you when I get home bro. Lol you owe me tonight

Alnghnt!
When you home

0600 am bro. You know I work night.

Yeah wasn't sure if you off early
Man I could not stay up past 3 lol
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Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

You’d get used to it. I've always been a night owl
I'm nodded off now

Just say you're scared...not sure of what tho...lol

The conversation continued on March 4, 2022 and the following messages were

exchanged on Snapchat:

UC:

Alexandro:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

Not scared
I feel [sic] asleep you scared lol
It’s ok you don'’t have to send anything

I already have bro. Lmao man up!

Working bro. Had to come in early today. Fucking 16 hrs
today but 50 and [sic] hr so I'm not too salty about it. What
you up to?

Big §

Just got home

You going to lift? Answer is yes.

Yeah probably this afternoon

You working out today

Never mind you gotta work

Did some home training, sir.

When I can’t make it to the gym I do pushups, situps and
air ermate at the house.

3x15 each

Beast

You fall asleep?? HS that hard?"
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UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Lol
It can be
Sometimes it is hard

Hahahah I'm hard all the time. School is easy.

Lol ahhha
You are huh?

Go lift! Let me know when you’re there and I'll send you
some motivational material.

I’'m about to do some cardo stuff
Can always use some motivation
Motivation always helps

Everyone can always use motivation....but can you be
trusted with it??

I was trusted last time
Come on bro you know I ain’t no snitch

Man your arms are solid and you make that uniform look

Defendant’s Initialsf 12



Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UucC:

Alexandro:

uc:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UC:

Alexandro:
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legit

It’s better without the uniform bro!

O Ibet
Must be

It is. Like you are.

I’'m around or [ would

I like motivation

You definitely have motivated me in the past
Been a while

I'm gonna do some wind sprints

I got you bro you know I do!

Hell yeah
Send any motivation you can bro

I have to know I can trust you bro.
seriously.

Why could you not

Snap is legit

Last time I didn’t snitch

You already send me motivation it’s koool

That’s what I've been saying bro. You haven't trusted me
yet. That’s all.

Nah I Trust you

Damn right. Ride or die!

So quit being a little girl and release the hotness. Lol
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UcC:

Alexandro:

UC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

Been waiting on you
You told me you was sending one
I’'m around people now

That’s what I was worried about. Let me know when you're
alone bro. And send me your venmo.
No one needs to know about an money I send you either.....

I can receive anything no one gets on my phone lol

Nah man no worries and you don’t gotta send me$!
Motivation is pay

No one is looking over my shoulder and NO ONE gets in
snap and it’s passcode

Bro it was your berfday. I like to give. It’s what I work my
ass off for. If you weren’t a good person and I didn’t like
you I wouldn’t even consider it!

Man that’s coool you are an awesome dude

[Defendant sent an approximately 20 second video clip of
himself standing in what appeared to be a residential
bathroom. Defendant was shirtless, wearing a brown 1n
color towel. After several seconds, the towel dropped,
exposing the defendant’s bare erect penis. Defendant stood
for several seconds flexing and eventually placing his hand
near his penis, the video soon ended.|

Damn richt sir.

I'm trusting you. There’s proof. No saving.

Man you swole
Dude you are ripped and you got bigger

Tndav ie international arms and shoulder day. Get on it.

Then proper swole flex vids afte:

Defendant’s Initial@ 14



UucC:

Alexandro:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

UucC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

UcC:
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On it.

What should I get for dinner tonight? BBQ or suishi?

Tough choice
BBQ from where

Bearded Pig in Jax. Sooooo good.
When you going

Man I wish I could go

Been there one time

Turkey 1s awesome

What time
T drive 1ol

Bro it’s like an hour from [Clay County]. You cray.
But 1t’s good lol

Nevt time we go lift we can go get gainzzz at Big Oak

Hell yeah

Ended up having to deal with some BS....gonna go to Ale
House later. Lol

Crazy calls 7

You go lift?

Ale house is ok

I did cardio and some push/sit ups till I couldn’t anymore

Going tomorrow to life
Lift

Defendant's Initials g 15
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Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

Alexandro:

UcC:

Alexandro:

ucC:

Alexandro:

Defendant’s Initials

Ale House is a good catch all. And they stop open til 0200

Didn’t say I wasn’t going to later lol
I’'m worn out

Yeah yeah. Lol
Tonight blows!!! You take my motivational vid yet?

Why does it blow 7
You busy
I Donna [sic] how exactly to take it lol

It’s been wild tonight bro.

Two shootings so far tonight. These mofos are wild.
Simple instructions for motivational snap vids. 1. Get
nekkid. 2. Set phone on counter....slide left on the pic
button for hands free recording. 3. Proceed to flex show. 4.
Hit send.

Too easy. Lo
lol you make it sound easy

Very easy
I’'ll work on it

My man

Y A



